

# Community Engaged Research Literature and Methodology Review

Raissa Dickinson, Canadian Centre for Elder Law September 2013

#### Disclaimer

The information and commentary in this publication is not offered as legal advice. It refers only to the law at the time of publication, and the law may have since changed. BCLI does not undertake to continually update or revise each of its publications to reflect post-publication changes in the law.

The British Columbia Law Institute and its division, the Canadian Centre for Elder Law, disclaim any and all responsibility for damage or loss of any nature whatsoever that any person or entity may incur as a result of relying upon information or commentary in this publication.

You should not rely on information in this publication in dealing with an actual legal problem that affects you or anyone else. Instead, you should obtain advice from a qualified legal professional concerning the particular circumstances of your situation.

#### © 2016 British Columbia Law Institute

The British Columbia Law Institute claims copyright in this publication. You may copy, download, distribute, display, and otherwise deal freely with this publication, but only if you comply with the following conditions:

- 1. You must acknowledge the source of this publication;
- 2. You may not modify this publication or any portion of it;
- 3. You must not use this publication for any commercial purpose without the prior written permission of the British Columbia Law Institute.

# Contents

1.	Executive Summary	4
2.	Background	4
	(a) Introduction	4
	(b) Issues Facing Older Women in BC	4
	(i) Demographics and Population Distribution	4
	(ii) Health Indicators and Disability	5
	(iii) Social Indicators of Health	7
3.	Participatory Action Research	8
	(a) Background	8
	(b) Literature Review Methodology	. 10
	(c) Summary of Review	
	(i) Exploratory Process	. 10
	(ii) Action Process	. 11
	(iii) Conceptual Frameworks	. 11
	(d) Discussion	. 12
	(i) Participation, Democracy, and Emancipatory Agenda	. 12
	(ii) Developing Relationships	. 13
	(iii) Forming Community Partnerships	. 14
	(iv) Concerns about Research Rigour	. 14
	(v) Implications of Researching Vulnerable Populations and Sensitive Issues.	. 15
	(vi) Democratic Nature and Types of Knowing	. 15
4.	Concluding Remarks	. 16
	Appendix A- Characteristics of CBPR	. 18
	Appendix B - Evaluation of Participation Levels	. 19
	Appendix C - Literature Review Sources	. 20
	Appendix D - Analysis of Literature	.37
	Appendix E – Cycle of Problem Solving with Action Reserach	. 46
	Appendix F – Effective Community-Academic Partnerships	
	Appendix G - Summary of Common Barriers and Potential Solutions in PAI	
	References	. 52

# 1. Executive Summary

This paper examines the use of Participatory Action Research (PAR) as a potential methodology for work with older women. To set the context, we first identify and summarize issues effecting older women in BC. PAR is an emergent and dynamic research approach conducted by, with, and for communities. PAR engages a range of people and perspectives, including community members and partners in pursuit of practical solutions to areas they identify as concerning. PAR shows great promise as an appropriate methodology for work with diverse and marginalized populations. We conclude this paper with recommendations on how best to conduct research in a process of continual reflection and progressive problem-solving utilizing a participatory action research methodology.

# 2. Background

## (a) Introduction

When it comes to sociological research, there is a gap in knowledge to action. This gap can be attributed to a number of causes, including the reality that research findings do not always make their way into practice in a timely fashion. As well, when working with marginalized communities, a sensitivity is often required that can make traditional research methods inappropriate. There is increased interest in finding ways to minimize this knowledge to action gap. With older women as a focus, we set out to do just this.

Preliminary research from the Older Women's Dialogue Project has identified some of the hallmarks of a methodological approach that is appropriate for research with older women. Accommodating women from diverse backgrounds, cultures, and abilities is key. The methodology must also be grounded in a human rights context and be advocacy-focused with an emphasis on an older woman's experience.

With this intent, we set out to conduct a literature review on potential methodologies to expand the Older Women's Dialogue Project. Through this review, we establish the importance and necessity of performing research that is responsive to the needs of older women. To help us reach this level of understanding, this paper first briefly describes the social determinants of health affecting older women in British Columbia. A systematic literature review then provides the necessary background to evaluate PAR as an appropriate methodology for research with older women.

## (b) Issues Facing Older Women in BC

#### (i) Demographics and Population Distribution

Any research, as it affects older women, must be based on a solid understanding of the issues facing older women, with particular attention to gender, age, and disability. Older

women in BC are diverse in many respects and their experiences throughout the life course contribute to circumstances and identities. Most women experience stereotyping, marginalization or discrimination throughout their lives and into old age. We must address the circumstances of older women in the context of their accumulated life experiences. This section first briefly describes the demographics of older women living in BC, followed by attention to health issues, socio-economic status, income security, housing, and poverty.

Population estimates from BC Statistics suggest that in 2012, approximately 15.85% of the population was over the age of 65. This figure is expected to increase as the babyboomer cohort ages. Due to advances in medical care, improved public health, as well as higher educational attainment and per capita income, life expectancy after the age of 65 has been increasing (CIHI, 2011). The majority of seniors are women and it is predicted that women will continue to outnumber men into the future (Turcotte & Schellenberg, 2007). Metro Vancouver has a higher percentage of both immigrant and visible minority seniors in comparison to the rest of the province, with the majority self-identifying as Chinese, South Asian or Filipino (City of Vancouver, 2009).

While life expectancy is increasing at a population level for both men and women, relative disparities exist and distinct populations are not experiencing equal gains. The BC seniors' population is made up of many different groups (e.g., First Nations, immigrants, employed), each with diverse needs, strengths, environments, and ambitions (Mental Health Commission of Canada, 2011). Ageism is a key feature of discrimination and marginalization. Distinct populations may be excluded from data collection and thus marginalized further on the basis of dimensions such as ethnicity and sexuality (Fenge, 2002). For example, lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) seniors may experience barriers accessing mental health services because of their own encounters with discrimination or prejudice. As a result, the incidence of mental illness among the LGBT community is likely underreported (Mental Health Commission of Canada, 2011).

It is important to keep the invisibility of traditionally marginalized groups in mind and interpret general indicators of health and well-being with caution. Moreover, in part due to differential life expectancy, older women face unique challenges with respect to their aging-related experiences and health condition compared to their male counterparts. The need for a gender-specific analysis is clear (Wanless et al., 2010).

The quality of senior women's health can be measured with the indicators of function status and multi-morbidity. Functional capacity refers to one's ability to carry out everyday tasks, both activities of daily living:- walking, bathing, toileting, dressing and eating;- and instrumental activities of daily living:- shopping, food preparation and housekeeping. A loss of functional capacity becomes more common and more severe with age (CIHI, 2011). Practicing positive lifestyle behaviours can help stave off function declines in people with disabilities (Feinglass et al. 2005).

#### (ii) Health Indicators and Disability

Multi-morbidity is an indicator of quality of life that examines the presence of multiple chronic conditions<sup>1</sup>. The likelihood of having at least one chronic condition increases with age, then plateaus for those older than 84 (CIHI, 2011). Healthy seniors, however, need less health care. This suggests that the amount of health care services seniors need is not determined by their age *per se* but rather by the number of chronic conditions they have. It is important to note that apart from mood disorders, this measurement does not reflect the presence of mental illness.

Age-standardized prevalence rates for older women are highest for the conditions of hypertension (13.70%), asthma (11.48%), osteoporosis (8%), and osteoarthritis (6.63%) (Provincial Health Officer's Report, 2008). Older women are not only directly impacted by the effects of chronic illness, but they also frequently fill caregiver roles and may be responsible for caring for spouses of family members who are also facing chronic illness. For older men, hypertension (13.43%) is also the most prevalent condition, followed by asthma (10.18%), diabetes (5.88%), and COPD (5.75%). Hypertension is the most prevalent condition for both sexes, which is noteworthy because it is associated with high rates of co-morbidities including heart disease, kidney disease, and stroke (Pai-Feng et al., 2013).

The onset of impairment and retirement are important social markers of transition to old age. Gender norms often shape choices in occupation as well as vulnerabilities to certain health problems. Throughout the life course, women largely perform unpaid care-giving. As older adults, women are at higher risk for stress, emotional strain, and musculo-skeletal injuries (CIHI, 2009; Stacey, 2005).

Women age 75 or older are more likely to be obese and physically inactive compared to men of the same age (Turcotte & Schellenberg, 2007). Physical inactivity not only increases an individual's likelihood of developing a number of chronic conditions, but also of mental health conditions. It can be difficult for seniors, their families, and health care workers to distinguish mental illness or substance abuse with problems related to growing older (Here to Help, 2009). The most prevalent mental illnesses among older people are, in descending order: mood and anxiety disorders, cognitive and mental disorders due to a medical condition, substance misuse, and psychotic disorders (Mental Health Commission of Canada, 2011). Although considered common in older adults, mental illness is not and should not be viewed as an inevitable consequence of aging.

As an illness, depression is the most common mental health disorder among older adults, affecting an estimated 15% of seniors in the community (CCSMH, 2006) and up to 44% of seniors in nursing homes (CIHI, 2010). Suicide is perhaps the most tragic consequence of mental illness affecting both men and women. Men over the age of 80 and older compose the largest cohort suicide rate in Canada (Mood Disorders Society of

Canadian Centre for Elder Law Literature and Methodology Review September, 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Chronic conditions referred to are arthritis, asthma, cancer, chronic pain, depression, diabetes, emphysema or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, heart disease, high blood pressure, a mood disorder other than depression and stroke.

Canada, 2009). The National Advisory Council on Aging (2004) speaks well to the multifactorial lenses of developmental disability, mental health and illness:

The notion and the reality of differences in capacity have often caused them to live parallel lives socially and economically. This means that mainstream information on disease prevention may not be reaching them. This is compounded by the rarity of experts of aging with developmental disabilities and the difficulties of communication-possible factors in preventable or undiagnosed conditions, and lack of access to proper care and other services in the areas of physical or mental health. Social and financial supports are also critical to the continued well being of seniors with disabilities (p.6).

It is important to acknowledge the ways in which age and disability may intersect. The incidence of certain types of impairments as well as activity limitations generally, though not inherently, increases with age. Older women may not be affected with a disability *per se*, but may be discriminated against due to the perception that they will inevitably become disabled. There are similarities in the ways in which older women and individuals with disabilities are situated in society, being associated with impaired bodies, incapacity, and a fear of becoming a burden. Social distancing is furthered as both groups are largely excluded from the labour market, therefore experiencing structural dependency in combination with the experience of social segregation (Priestley, 2003).

#### (iii) Social Indicators of Health

Housing also has a tremendous impact on quality of life. Compared with those from poorer neighbourhoods, senior men living in Canada's wealthiest neighbourhoods had longer life expectancies. Statistics Canada (2001) suggests that men age 65 and older in the highest neighbourhood income tercile could expect to live 1.1 years longer than senior men in the lowest tercile. In contrast, senior women from the wealthiest neighbourhoods did not live longer than their counterparts in the poorest neighbourhoods, 0.2 years less on average. Additionally, low-income seniors are more likely to live in neighbourhoods with fewer health-promoting features (McMunn et al., 2006) and are also more likely to engage in health-harming behaviours, such as smoking (Shanker et al., 2010).

Older women are more likely than men to live in poverty and have differential access to support systems, factors that may also shape health in later life (Pederson & Raphael, 2006). Throughout the life course, women are more vulnerable to low-income status due to social and structural factors such as unpaid housework, care giving, low wages for so-called "women's work", lower pensions, and a lack of financial autonomy (PHSA, 2009). Pathways to homelessness are also strongly gendered. Low of income and violence against women are significant causes of homelessness (Chambers, 2013; Thurston et al., 2013).

Between 1998 and 2008 the average income for seniors living with family and unattached seniors has increased (National Advisory Council on Aging, 2006; Statistics Canada,

2009). This is in combination with fewer seniors accessing public income-security programs such as Old Age Security (OAS) and the Guaranteed Income Supplement (GIS) (Milan & Vezina, 2011). A senior woman who does not have a Canada Pension Plan or other source of income can receive an OAS of approximately \$1,170 per month. The same senior woman who has not lived in Canada for 40 years, but more than 10 years with residency prior to turning 65 is entitled to receive approximately \$516 in OAS per month. Individuals with an annual income below \$15,672 may also qualify for a GIS maximum of \$652 per month (City of Vancouver, 2010).

It is important to note the income gap between men and women. The mean after-tax income from all sources for older women is 65% that of older men (Milan & Vezina, 2011). This suggests that senior women are increasingly relying on retirement savings, other income sources, or simply doing without. Aboriginal elders, recent immigrants, and unattached senior women are more likely than other seniors to be living in poverty (Preston et al., 2013; Statistics Canada, 2006).

Senior women continue to disproportionately be low-income, with significant barriers to employment, housing, and the attainment of the highest standard of health. The combined effect of these barriers is, for many senior women, social and economic marginalization and the experience of sexism and ageism. Despite these barriers there is remarkable resiliency among this population for overcoming challenges uniquely faced by senior women (Canadian Centre for Elder Law, 2013).

# 3. Participatory Action Research

Research needs to be adaptive to the diversity, strengths, and needs of senior women in BC. Older women may be discriminated against on the basis not only of age but also of other factors such as gender, ethnicity, class, disability, and sexuality. Developing a research approach that is concerned with individual and community empowerment, issues of power and powerlessness, and honouring the experience of oppressed groups is paramount.

Participatory Action Research (PAR) is a method that has the potential to recognize and honour the capacity of older women to engage in research and bring about social change. Following a brief background of PAR and its potential utility for work with senior women, this paper moves on to summarize the results of the literature review and concludes with a discussion of key themes.

# (a) Background

PAR and Community-Based Participatory Research (CBPR) are two examples of approaches that seek to bring together community and academic expertise to explore and create opportunities for social action and change. There are many versions of these methodologies that are very broad in scope, with ancestral roots in action research (Whyte, 1991), participatory research (Cornwall, & Jewkes, 1995; Maguire, 1987;

Minker, & Wallerstein, 2010), and community development (Ife, 1995). Confusion exists within this field due to the multiple terms used to describe all or part of the process of moving from knowledge to action. In 2005, a literature review (Graham et al.) identified 29 terms used interchangeably either as nouns to describe the entire process or as verbs to represent specific actionable steps. More recently, Integrated Knowledge Translation (IKT) has gained popularity within health and social science research. IKT places great emphasis on partnered research.

Action research is a particular approach to systematic inquiry, as opposed to a research methodology as such. It differs from conventional quantitative and qualitative research paradigms in three ways: "in its understanding and use of knowledge; its relationship with research participants; and the introduction of change into the research process" (Hockley & Froggatt, 2006). The key principles guiding structured and rigorous CBPR are described well by Isreal (1998) (see Table 1, Appendix A). Action research is:

a participatory, democratic process concerned with developing practical knowing in pursuit of worthwhile human purposes, grounded in a participatory worldview which we believe is emerging at this historical moment. It seeks to bring together action and reflection, theory and practice, in participation with others, in the pursuit of practical solutions to issues of pressing concern to people. (Reason & Bradbury, 2001, p.1)

For the purpose of this paper PAR will be used broadly as a term to encompass the above-noted dimensions. The roots of PAR recognize the importance of community members, especially racial and ethnic minorities, including groups who have historically or currently experience social, economic and/or political marginalization. Guiding principles of PAR are collaboration, mutually respectful relationships, shared responsibilities and an emphasis on local capacity building.

With all of the above approaches to action research there is a clear emphasis on community<sup>2</sup>. This is contrary to community-placed research, located in but not significantly involving the community (Horowitz et al. 2009). The term 'community participation' may elicit different perceptions of what level or process of community engagement qualifies participation. It is reasonable to question what is meant by community participation. Engagement with community members is "a process whereby community members take part in the identification of their needs, setting priorities, identifying and obtaining means to meet those priorities, including the development, implementation, and evaluation of those means in terms of their outcomes" (Koelen & Van der Ban, 2004, p.138). Although definable in theory, it can be difficult to interpret the notion of community engagement when there is inconsistency in describing the research process. The use of general terms such as participation, engagement, or involvement when there is no reference to what these terms actually encompass or how they will occur may lead to differential interpretation. Pretty (1995) has developed an

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Community should be interpreted abstractly as all who will be affected by the research.

instrument to distinguish different levels of community participation, which can help to screen projects on their participatory characteristics (see Appendix B).

The operating principles that guide PAR are conceptually well-grounded. However, in practice they remain broad in scope and are seldom mapped out in explicit terms. As PAR gains currency as a research strategy of choice for the community sector we believe there is a need to revisit what have become the conventions of PAR and consider how these are enacted in practice. We seek to address the conceptual and operational practices of conducting PAR day-to-day. Various epistemological, methodological, and practical challenges confront PAR. With this in mind, we move on to explore the conventions of PAR and examine how these are enacted in practice.

## (b) Literature Review Methodology

For this literature review, we searched PubMed, Medline, ERIC, Web of Science and EBSCOhost with the search terms: community based participatory research, participatory action research, action research methodology, community research, participatory research, and peer research. The review was conducted between July -August 2013. The initial search produced over 3,000 non-duplicated results. Our next step was to combine the search results with the key words: seniors, older people, older women, elders, and geriatrics. Only journal articles written in English were included.

The results of this process yielded 261 articles. After reviewing all abstracts and removing those that did not involve older adults and PAR, there was a remaining pool of 136 articles. Because of the limited research exclusively on older women, articles that involved older women and men were also included. A full list of references for the sources included in our review can be found in Appendix C.

We divided the articles into two categories: first, PAR research methods and, second, PAR case studies. The first pool of articles (n=49) contains discussion articles that informed the background section of this paper. The second pool (n=87) contains research articles involving seniors with PAR. This is where we chose to focus our analysis. We reviewed all 87 articles and selected 32 of these whose adherence to PAR principles was sufficient to merit their use as exemplars in this review. Following the lead of other successful literature reviews under this topic area (Blair & Minkler, 2009), articles that referred to PAR but did not emphasize the methodology were excluded from further analysis.

## (c) Summary of Review

The literature review identified a variety of PAR approaches within a broad range of social contexts. The results of the analysis can be seen in Appendix D. Results of research are dichotomous and focus on either the exploratory or action stages of PAR.

#### (i) Exploratory Process

The aim of the exploratory phase is to generate knowledge to better inform health and social research. It includes making sense of phenomena. Of the 32 articles reviewed, 9 focused on knowledge creation. This approach was used with populations with whom there was limited previous research in order to examine perceptions and help-seeking behaviours and to capture the experiences of a population.

Methodology included questionnaires, surveys, observation, focus groups, sharing circles, and phone interviews. Older adult involvement in the research varied. Consulting the Ladder of Pretty (see Table 2, Appendix B), the highest form of engagement within this vein of PAR literature was Functional Participation.

#### (ii) Action Process

The action component of PAR represents the implementation or application of knowledge. Central to this stage is identifying an issue that requires attention and researching solutions or creating a tool to address the problem. The "doing" of research in this stage is broad in scope, including: adapting knowledge to a local context, tailoring interventions, monitoring use, and evaluating outcomes. Of the 32 articles reviewed, 23 addressed the action stage of research.

Approaches to this stage include model or program evaluations, focus groups, theater performances, stakeholder meetings, photovoice, and sharing circles. Key concepts in this vein are tailoring research questions to address the problems identified by stakeholders and tailoring dissemination strategies to better reach the intended users.

#### (iii) Conceptual Frameworks

A number of conceptual frameworks have been identified in this review. The interrelated stages of PAR are depicted well by Everingham et al. (2009) (see Appendix D). This approach is common in PAR. In this approach, potential gatekeepers are identified and asked to participate in the research process. Participants then identify areas of concern and agree on priorities. In a linear fashion, participants brainstorm solutions and actionable steps followed by a reflection process. Alternatively, this process may also be viewed as a cycle of planning, observing, and acting, outlined well by Riel (2007) (see Figure 2, Appendix E).

Another approach is to involve stakeholders and end-service users in the project through the formation of working groups. In this process, stakeholders participate in brainstorming sessions to share ideas, stories, and ideals. A timeframe and initial focal point is determined. Co-researchers then record group interactions and the path that leads to the topic under discussion. Participants' views are rooted in their lived experience and researchers analyze themes from different working groups. The final stage is to reflect on observations and engage participants in reflecting on their experience. Triangulation is often used to validate research findings. An example of this approach is described well in Ottmann et al. (2011) (see Appendix D).

Ethnography and critical social theory is another approach present in the PAR field. A framework for this approach is described well by Averill (2005). The guiding principles of this approach are to evoke the perspectives of the community through ethnography and to conduct ethnography from a critical perspective. This means integrating relevant sociopolitical contexts such as culture, aging, and gender throughout and within the analysis. In many ways this approach is a critique of ideology and power in combination with the tenants of PAR. The stages of this process may be adapted depending on the context of research. It is important to note that ethnography and critical social theory are deep areas of study that are outside the scope of this review.

#### (d) Discussion

In this section, we seek to confront the nuanced understandings of PAR principles and concepts as identified in the literature review. PAR is underscored by a shared set of core principles and values including a focus on empowerment, capacity building, and system change as well as intent to balance research and action (Isreal et al, 2008). Given the pragmatic position of PAR, it is possible to analyze the quality of research by its ability to meet these requirements. For conceptual purposes, we linearly describe six themes generated from the literature review, although it is important to note that the themes are often interconnected:

- (i) Participation, Democracy, and Emancipatory Agenda
- (ii) Developing Relationships
- (iii) Forming Community Partnerships
- (iv) Concerns about Research Rigour
- (v) Implications of Researching Vulnerable Populations and Sensitive Issues
- (vi) Democratic Nature and Types of Knowing

We pay particular attention to the issues of community engagement, partnerships, empowerment, and working with diverse and potentially marginalized older women.

#### (i) Participation, Democracy, and Emancipatory Agenda

Many researchers addressed the issue of participation, which distinguishes work in the PAR field. Implicit in this is a recognition of power relations that many constrain involvement. This has been identified as a challenge for researchers who are typically accustomed to making decisions. Understanding the context of inequality and power, and therefore facilitating individuals to voice their own ideas and beliefs, contributes to an alternate system of knowledge production by older people themselves.

Unpacking the who, what, and how of PAR means thinking about what would make sense for a particular population. Optimal participation will depend on the purpose and context of the PAR project. Adaptivity is key. PAR has the potential to contribute to capacity building and systems change at the individual, organizational, and community level.

When working with minority and marginalized senior women the process of incorporating them in the research direction has been met with success (Fenge et al., 2009; Ottmann et al., 2011). This is despite a well-established perception that recruiting and retaining older adults in research can be difficult (Norris, 2007). Incorporating senior women in the development of knowledge translation tools has many benefits including: increased efficacy, improved relevance and cultural sensitivity of data collection tools, greater nuance in the interpretation of findings, and also helping in the translation of findings into action to improve programs, practices, and policies (Blair, 2009). Participants in the research process have reported the following benefits: development of new skills and knowledge, personal development, support and friendship, enjoyment, and satisfaction. Alternatively, negative impacts can include: feeling emotionally burdened, overloaded with work, and frustrated with the limitations of involvement. From a pragmatic perspective, participation is an instrument for improving the quality of the research

## (ii) Developing Relationships

From the outset of a project, the division of labour, responsibilities, expectations, and remuneration should be made transparent. Developing bidirectional trust is essential. This can be challenging when not all PAR participants or stakeholders will participate equally in the project. Addressing equity in PAR is fundamental. One promising approach is to develop project expectations collaboratively with all partners and compose a memorandum or letter of understanding (Love, 2011). Forming relationships with community members takes time best invested at the outset of a PAR project.

Time constraints, funding deadlines, and quality of data collection can be significant challenges for participatory research. Even the perception of time constraints can act as a threat, impacting interpersonal dynamics of a project. This may project defensiveness to a community as tasks are split and aspects of the research are neglected. Such behaviours have the potential to undermine integrity. It is important to consider how PAR can facilitate community control and involvement within time constraints.

Communication skills that foster reciprocal relationships and dialogue are essential. Kur, DePorres, and Westrup (2008) refer to a threefold process: dialogue with self, with peers, and with supervisors or coaches. In PAR there is an opportunity to incorporate all three processes within a learning situation. The reflection that follows this process can facilitate researchers to reflect on interpretations, hidden assumptions, and bias.

The hallmark of a genuine PAR process is adaption as both participants and researchers come to understand what is happening and what is important to them. A major benefit reported from PAR for researchers is the challenge of their beliefs and attitudes as well as a better knowledge and understanding of the community. This is in tension with a loss of power over the research process, higher demands on resources, and a slower pace of research compared to non-PAR projects.

Inherent in this dialogue is an acknowledgment of power and powerlessness. Critical reflexivity addresses the position of the researcher at all stages of the research process itself. Analyzing the PAR process includes questioning underlying assumptions and addressing the power differential inherent in the relationship with the community and stakeholders. Critical reflexivity can be a valuable tool to assist in the continual questioning of assumptions and thus of the knowledge creation process. Researchers agree that incorporating a critical reflexivity process with an explicit values base can increase the quality of PAR in terms of rigor, authenticity, transparency, and transferability (Springette, Wright, & Roche, 2011).

#### (iii) Forming Community Partnerships

Partnership formation is the cornerstone of successful PAR. Given the importance of forming collaborative partnerships between community members and researchers much attention has been given to the daunting nature of this task. Notably, Braithwaite et al. (1989) suggest an approach that may be helpful in guiding researchers through the community partnership process (see Table 3, Appendix F).

The process of coming to know a community is an art as much as a science. Good partnerships originate from the development of positive, beneficial relationships that are mutually supportive between local leaders, funders, and participants. Quality PAR identifies community strengths and assets, not solely an itemization of problems. A major strength reported by many studies was the formation of a community advisory group that was valuable in verifying cultural appropriateness.

In large part due to the inherently social and collaborative nature of PAR, it is inevitable that a PAR project will have both foreseen and unforeseen challenges. While this report points to common pitfalls, it is essential that challenges be transparently addressed as they arise. In an ideal situation all barriers encountered would be discussed with partners and jointly addressed through a problem-based approach. Some barriers that may arise, as identified in the literature, are summarized in Table 4, Appendix G.

#### (iv) Concerns about Research Rigour

Another issue identified in the literature is the concern that PAR is not a robust research methodology. PAR faces many of the same criticisms as other qualitative research methodologies. The smallest sample size in the literature review was 7. Almost all samples were nonrandom, rendering the generalization of data impossible. It is reasonable to question when a researcher would know they are conducting "good" PAR.

Although this concern is important, PAR seeks to provide exemplary rather than generalizable data. PAR study designs tend to have more flexibility than traditional investigation-driven quantitative research. Reason and Bradbury (2008) speak well to the issue of rigour in PAR, noting that the researcher's attention is devoted to questioning if the research question is valid, in the sense of coming from, or being important to the

community. The tension here is between research conducted in artificial settings where bias can be controlled as opposed to research undertaken within a community where bias may only be minimized.

## (v) Implications of Researching Vulnerable Populations and Sensitive Issues

One of the major benefits of PAR projects is in honouring the knowledge and experience of oppressed groups. Literature has identified the "invisibility" of older lesbian woman, both within and outside research (Averett, Yoon, & Jenkins, 2013). "Triple discrimination" has been termed to describe the experience of both ethnic and gay older woman (Harper & Schneider, 2003). This is particularly important to research involving older lesbian women who have lived and grown old in a society with changing views towards homosexuality. Awareness of power and control when working with traditionally marginalized and or discriminated populations is essential. PAR promotes an alternate system of knowledge based on people's role in setting the agenda, heavily weighted on an egalitarian stance.

It is important to keep in mind the paradox of PAR. Minority populations are frequently only made "visible" after researchers have identified them. PAR is a useful tool for allowing vulnerable populations to have a voice in defining their lives and research needs but only to the degree that they are identified by researchers. Self-representation and the identities of minority groups are socially constructed phenomena. The way we interpret gender, class, race, culture, and ethnicity is as important as ever.

Recognizing and providing the space for diversity in PAR is essential. Diversity should be seen as a key theme. The experiences of older women from ethnic backgrounds are vast. It would be both impossible and inappropriate to try to cast a wide description of the population. Older women may be hesitant to participate in research for fear of identifying with a particular group, facing shame, discrimination, reliving a painful experience, or a perception of danger. For these reasons sampling and recruitment of vulnerable populations about sensitive or personal issues may be difficult. Research using snowball sampling has been met with success to overcome this challenge.

First Nations communities have much strength, including interconnectedness to family and a pervasive spirituality. Dominant methodology in work with First Nations emphasizes the role of family, spirituality, and traditional ways of knowing. As with any research with First Nations communities, due attention is required to ensure cultural sensitivity. The OCAP principles of ownership, control, access and possession of research are particularly salient.

#### (vi) Democratic Nature and Types of Knowing

A large focus of the research in this field incorporates a worldview within which all forms of knowledge that come to the table are valued. This is in line with the concept of an experiential expert. A number of studies, while conceptually well-grounded in PAR principles, have questioned the tension between community lay perspectives and the

pursuit of scientific rigour. It is important to recognize differences not only between participants and researchers, but also between participants themselves may move the research in unexpected directions. Again, we note the co-creative nature of PAR requires facilitation so that trust can be built and maintained based on the values of dignity, mutuality, and reciprocity (Springett, Wright, & Roche, 2011).

Central to literature in this field is the impact of PAR beyond the production of academic knowledge. In 9 studies a tool, often referred to as an outcome of knowledge translation, was produced. Quantifying the outcomes of this process can be difficult. A tool may be developed for practical use or, more abstractly, an emancipatory outcome may be changing the way people think or act in their community (Johansson & Lindhult, 2008).

Evaluating project outcomes and communicating results to funders may need to be adaptive to abstract perceptions of community change. Primacy of the local context cannot be overstated. The strength of PAR is the development of local theory. However, this can also be problematic if stakeholders and funders are accustomed to standardized interventions. In this regard, PAR researchers are often in a difficult position when competing for funding. Narrative accounts of the local situation, especially for marginalized communities, can be an effective starting point to ground knowledge production in lived realities.

Caution is needed when scaling up PAR initiatives. The results of this analysis can by no means replace the important process of coming to know a community. The transfer of methodology from one community to the next is largely viewed as inappropriate. Respecting the primacy of the local context is about understanding the contextual conditions of a community and how they differ from the setting in which the knowledge was produced and reflecting on the consequences of this difference.

# 4. Concluding Remarks

Our analysis has revealed large variability in the qualitative methodology of PAR. Common approaches included focus groups, semi-structured interviews, and working action groups. It is likely that the most appropriate method will depend on the context, needs, and desires of the community. Flexibility is key. Rigid assumptions about senior women requiring a particular methodology (e.g. focus groups or semi-structured interviews) may be a significant constraint on the research.

A successful PAR project will require reflexivity and a willingness to critically appraise personal and contextual biases. This includes dedicating serious time to engaging stakeholders and identifying potential stumbling blocks at the onset of a project. Dialogue about roles, responsibilities, and outcomes with the understanding that PAR is a dynamic process is essential.

The democratization of knowledge – viewing the participant as an expert with important information to share – has the potential to lead to healthier communities, not only

because of the results of a research project, but also through the process of conducting research itself. In an ideal situation, long-lasting relationships with community members will emerge from the project. Community activism may further flow from a project by putting the research results into the hands of concerned, engaged, and empowered women.

Given the emancipatory and empowering nature of PAR, we believe it is an appropriate approach to research with older woman. We are excited at the potential for charting new directions and to continually question how we may better integrate community perspectives. By putting the voice of older woman firmly on the agenda we hope to gain valuable insights into their lived experiences and produce quality research that is accountable to the community that it serves.

#### **Table 1. Characteristics of CBPR**

- 1. Recognizes community as a unit of identity;
- 2. Begins with and builds on strengths and resources within the community;
- 3. Facilitates collaborative, equitable partnership in all phases of the research, involving an empowering power sharing process;
- 4. Promotes co-learning and capacity building among all partners involved;
- 5. Integrates and creates a balance between knowledge generation and action for mutual benefit of all partners;
- 6. Emphasis on local relevance of public health and social problems and ecological approaches that address the multiple determinants of disease and well-being;
- 7. Disseminates findings to all partners and involves all partners in the dissemination process;
- 8. Involves a long-term process and commitment (Isreal et al., 1998).

<b>Table 2. The Ladder of Pretty (1995)</b> 7. Self Mobilization	Community members set their own
7. Sen Hoomzation	agenda and organize for action.
	Professionals have a role in the
	background, are facilitative and
	supportive but only if asked.
6. Interactive Participation	Professionals and community members
	work as equal partners in defining the
	problems or needs and the strategies fo
	change. There is a sharing of
	knowledge and valuing of 'local' or lay
	knowledge. Professionals facilitate and
	support the process.
5. Functional Participation	Community members are involved in
	decision-making and the development
	and execution of programs or activities
	Professionals are in control and take
	responsibility for the process.
4. Participation by Consultation	Community members are asked to give
	their opinions on the program plans.
	The professionals decide what to do.
3. Participation by Information	Community members are informed in
	an early stage about the program plans
	and are given the opportunity to ask
	questions.
2. Passive Participation	Professionals are in control of the
	program; community members are
1.31. B	informed about the program.
1. No Participation	Community members are not informed
	about the program, only about the
	activities for which they have been
Table 2: Adapted from Pretty et al. 1995	recruited.

#### Appendix C - Literature Review Sources

- Akom, A. A. (2011). Black emancipatory action research: Integrating a theory of structural racialisation into ethnographic and participatory action research methods. *Ethnography and Education*, *6*(1), 113-131.
- Amico, K. L., Wieland, M. L., Weis, J. A., Sullivan, S. M., Nigon, J. A., & Sia, I. G. (2011). Capacity building through focus group training in community-based participatory research. *Education for Health*, *24*(3), 638.
- Austrom, M. G., Dickinson, S. L., Denny, S. S., Matthews, B. R., Gao, S., & Lu, Y.
  (2011). Frontotemporal dementia caregivers and researchers: Partnering for brain donation. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease & Other Dementias*, 26(6), 477-483.
- Baker, D. L., Melnikow, J., Ly, M. Y., Shoultz, J., Niederhauser, V., & Diaz-Escamilla,
  R. (2010). Translation of health surveys using mixed methods. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 42(4), 430-438.
- Bangdiwala, S. I., Villaveces, A., Garrettson, M., & Ringwalt, C. (2012). Statistical methods for designing and assessing the effectiveness of community-based interventions with small numbers. *International Journal of Injury Control & Safety Promotion*, 19(3), 242-248.
- Baur, V., & Abma, T. (2012). "The taste buddies": Participation and empowerment in a residential home for older people. *Ageing & Society, 32*(6), 1055-1078.
- Beckman, M., Penney, N., & Cockburn, B. (2011). Maximizing the impact of community-based research. *Journal of Higher Education Outreach and Engagement*, 15(2), 83-103.
- Blair, T., & Minkler, M. (2009). Participatory action research with older adults: Key principles in practice. *Gerontologist*, 49(5), 651-662.

- Brown, C. H., Kellam, S. G., Kaupert S., Muthén, B. O., Wang, W., Muthén, L.K., ... McManus, J. W. (2012). Partnerships for the design, conduct, and analysis of effectiveness, and implementation research: Experiences of the prevention science and methodology group. *Administration & Policy in Mental Health*, 39(4), 301-316.
- Brown, D., & McCormack, B. G. (2011). Developing the practice context to enable more effective pain management with older people: An action research approach. *Implementation Science*, 6(1), 9-22.
- Byrd, T. L., Wilson, K. M., Smith, J. L., Heckert, A., Orians, C.E., Vernon, S. W., ...

  Fernandez, M. E. (2012). Using intervention mapping as a participatory strategy:

  Development of a cervical cancer screening intervention for Hispanic women.

  Health Education & Behavior, 39(5), 603-611.
- Cameron, B. L., & Santos Salas, A. (2009). Understanding the provision of palliative care in the context of primary health care: Qualitative research findings from a pilot study in a community setting in Chile. *Journal of Palliative Care*, 25(4), 275-283.
- Cartwright, J. C., & Hickman, S. E. (2007). Conducting research in community-based care facilities: Ethical and regulatory implications. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *33*(10), 5-11.
- Cashman, S.B., Adeky, S., Allen, A.J. 3rd, Corburn, J., Israel, B. A., Montaño, J., ... Eng,
  E. (2008). The power and the promise: Working with communities to analyze data,
  interpret findings, and get to outcomes. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98(8),
  1407-1417.
- Catalani, C. E. C. (2009). Visual methodologies in community-based participatory research for health: Using photography, video, and new media to engage communities in research and action (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from

- ProQuest LLC. (3383603)
- Catalani, C., & Minkler, M. (2010). Photovoice: A review of the literature in health and public health. *Health Education & Behavior*, *37*(3), 424-451.
- Chadiha, L. A., Washington, O. G. M., Lichtenberg, P.A., Green, C.R., Daniels, K.L, Jackson, J. S. (2011). Building a registry of research volunteers among older urban African Americans: Recruitment processes and outcomes from a community-based partnership. *Gerontologist*, *51*, 106-115.
- Cortez, P., Dumas, T., Joyce, J., Olson, D., Peters, S., Todahl, J., ... Wilde, R. (2011). Survivor voices: Co-learning, re-connection, and healing through community action research and engagement (CARE). *Progress in Community Health Partnerships*, *5*(2), 133-142.
- de Hollander, E. L., Bemelmans, W. J. E., & de Groot, L. C. P. G. M. (2013).

  Associations between changes in anthropometric measures and mortality in old age: A role for mid-upper arm circumference? *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 14(3), 187-193.
- Dennis, B. P., & Neese, J. B. (2000). Recruitment and retention of African American elders into community-based research: Lessons learned. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, *14*(1), 3-11.
- Dong, X. (2012). Culture diversity and elder abuse: Implications for research, education, and policy. *Generations*, *36*(3), 40-42.
- Dong, X., Chang, E., Wong, E., & Simon, M. The perceptions, social determinants, and negative health outcomes associated with depressive symptoms among U.S. Chinese older adults. *Gerontologist*, *52*(5), 650-663.
- Dong, X., Chang, E., Wong, E., & Simon, M. (2012). A qualitative study of filial piety among community dwelling, Chinese, older adults: Changing meaning and impact

- on health and well-being. *Journal of Intergenerational Relationships, 10*(2), 131-146.
- Dong, X., Chang, E., Wong, E., Wong, B., & Simon, M. A. (2011). How do U.S. Chinese older adults view elder mistreatment? Findings from a community-based participatory research study. *Journal of Aging and Health*, *23*(2), 289-312.
- Doyle, M., & Timonen, V. (2010). Lessons from a community-based participatory research project: Older people's and researchers' reflections. *Research on Aging*, 32(2), 244-263.
- Ejiogu, N., Norbeck, J. H., Mason, M. A., Cromwell, B. C., Zonderman, A. B., & Evans, M. K. (2011). Recruitment and retention strategies for minority or poor clinical research participants: Lessons from the healthy aging in neighborhoods of diversity across the life span study. *Gerontologist*, 51, 33-45.
- Everingham, J., Petriwskyj, A., Warburton, J., Cuthill, M., & Bartlett, H. (2009).

  Information provision for an age-friendly community. *Ageing International*, *34*(1), 79-98.
- Feldman, S., Radermacher, H., Lorains, F., & Haines, T. (2011) A research-based community theater performance to promote ageing: Is it more than just a show? *Educational Gerontology*, *37*(10), 885-898.
- Fenge, L. (2002). Practising partnership—participative inquiry with older people. *Social Work Education*, 21(2), 171-181.
- Fenge, L., Fannin, A., Armstrong, A., Hicks, C., & Taylor, V. (2009) Lifting the lid on sexuality and ageing. *Qualitative Social Work*, 8(4), 509-524.
- Fielden, S. J., Rusch, M. L., Masinda, M. T., Sands, J., Frankish, J., & Evoy, B. (2007).Key considerations for logic model development in research partnerships: ACanadian case study. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 30(2), 115-124.

- Flegal, C. (1999). Seniors and their adult children: An assessment of their knowledge base on age-related resources (M.A. Thesis). Retrieved from Simon Fraser University Library.
- Fragar, L. J., & Depczynski, J. C. (2011). Beyond 50. Challenges at work for older nurses and allied health workers in rural Australia: A thematic analysis of focus group discussions. *BMC Health Services Research*, 11(1), 42-54.
- Freysteinson, W. M. (2010). The ethical community consultation model as preparation for nursing research: A case study. *Nursing Ethics*, *17*(6), 749-758.
- Gallagher, L. P., Truglio-Londrigan, M., & Levin, R. (2009). Partnership for healthy living: An action research project. *Nurse Researcher*, *16*(2), 7-29.
- Gehlert, S., & Coleman, R. (2010). Using community-based participatory research to ameliorate cancer disparities. *Health & Social Work, 35*(4), 302-309.
- Goins, R. T., Garroutte, E. M., Fox, S. L., Dee Geiger, S., & Manson, S. M. (2011).

  Theory and practice in participatory research: Lessons from the native elder care study. *Gerontologist*, *51*(3), 285-294.
- Gong, F., Baron, S., Ayala, L., Stock, L., McDevitt, S., & Heaney, C. (2009). The role for community-based participatory research in formulating policy initiatives:
   Promoting safety and health for in-home care workers and their consumers.
   American Journal of Public Health, 99, 531-538.
- Goodman, M. S., Si, X., Stafford, J. D., Obasohan, A., & Mchunguzi, C. (2012).

  Quantitative assessment of participant knowledge and evaluation of participant satisfaction in the CARES training program. *Progress in Community Health*

- *Partnerships*, 6(3), 361-368.
- Gordon, B. A., Datema, M. R., Slager, D., Martin, J. T., & Vander Werf, M. C. (2009).

  Community participatory research. *Nurse Educator*, *34*(1), 43-46.
- Green, B., Raymond, G., Peardon, J., Fox, D., Hawkes, B., & Cornes, M. (2012). Not just grapes and flowers: Older people's perspectives on the role and importance of hospital visiting. *Quality in Ageing & Older Adults*, *13*(2), 82-88.
- Gum, A. M., Watson, M. A., Smith, B. A., Briscoe, R., Goldsmith, J., & Henley, B. (2012). Collaborative design of a church-based, multidimensional senior wellness program by older adults, church leaders, and researchers. *Journal of Religion, Spirituality and Aging*, *24*(3), 213-234.
- Harrison, A., & Brandling, J. (2010). Using action research to address the mental health needs of older people: A reflection and discussion of real-world problems. *Educational Action Research*, 18(2), 255-272.
- Harrison, A., & Brandling, J. (2009). Improving mental health care for older people within a general hospital in the UK. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 11(3), 293-300.
- Hergenrather, K. C., Rhodes, S. D., Cowan, C. A., Bardhoshi, G, & Pula, S. (2009).

  Photovoice as community-based participatory research: A qualitative review.

  American Journal of Health Behavior, 33(6), 686-698.
- Hirshorn, B. A., & Stewart, J. E. (2003). Geographic information systems in community-based gerontological research and practice. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 22(1),

- Hockley, J., & Froggatt, K. (2006). The development of palliative care knowledge in care homes for older people: The place of action research. *Palliative Medicine*, 20(8), 835-843.
- Holkup, P. A., Salois, E. M., Tripp-Reimer, T., & Weinert, C. (2007). Drawing on wisdom from the past: An elder abuse intervention with tribal communities. *Gerontologist*, 47(2), 248-254.
- Hulko, W., Camille, E., Antifeau, E., Arnouse, M., Bachynski, N., & Taylor, D. (2010).
  Views of first nation elders on memory loss and memory care in later life. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, 25(4), 317-342.
- Hutnik, N., Smith, P., & Koch, T. (2012). What does it feel like to be 100? Socioemotional aspects of well-being in the stories of 16 centenarians living in the United Kingdom. *Aging & Mental Health*, 16(7), 811-818.
- Jacobs, G. (2010). Conflicting demands and the power of defensive routines in participatory action research. *Action Research*, 8(4), 367-386.
- Jagosh, J., Pluye, P., Macaulay, A. C., Salsberg, J., Henderson, J., Sirett, E., ... Green, L.
   W. (2011). Assessing the outcomes of participatory research: Protocol for identifying, selecting, appraising and synthesizing the literature for realist review.
   Implementation Science, 6, 24-32.
- Jameson, J. P., Shrestha, S., Escamilla, M., Clark, S., Wilson, N., Kunik, M., ... Stanley,

- M. (2012). Establishing community partnerships to support late-life anxiety research: Lessons learned from the calmer life project. *Aging Mental Health*, *16*(7), 874-883.
- Kneipp, S. M., Lutz, B. J., & Means, D. (2009). Reasons for enrollment, the informed consent process, and trust among low-income women participating in a community-based participatory research study. *Public Health Nursing*, 26(4), 362-369.
- Krout, J. A., & Bane, S.D. *Rural aging*. Association for Gerontology in Higher Education,
  Washington, DC; 1999:11p.
  http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=gnh&AN=84881&login.
  asp&site=ehost-live&scope=site.
- Lasker, J., Collom, E., Bealer, T., Niclaus, E., Young Keefe, J., Kratzer, Z., ... Perlow, K. (2011). Time banking and health: The role of a community currency organization in enhancing well-being. *Health Promotion Practice*, *12*(1), 102-115.
- Lau, D., Machizawa, S., Demonte, W., Cameron, K. A., Muramatsu, N., Henker, R. D., ... Tanimura, M. (2013). Colorectal cancer knowledge, attitudes, screening, and intergenerational communication among Japanese American families: An exploratory, community-based participatory study. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, 28(1), 89-101.
- Lemus, F., Tan, A., Eschbach, K., Freeman, D., & Freeman, J. (2010). Correlates of bacterial pneumonia hospitalizations in elders, Texas border. *Journal of*

- *Immigrant & Minority Health, 12*(4), 423-432.
- Lichtenberg, P. A. (2011). The generalizability of a participant registry for minority health research. *Gerontologist*, *51*, 116-124.
- Lindamer, L. A., Lebowitz, B., Hough, R. L., Garcia, P., Aguirre, A., Halpain, M. C., ...

  Jeste, D. V. (2009). Establishing an implementation network: Lessons learned

  from community-based participatory research. *Implementation Science*, *4*, 1-7.
- Liu, M., Gao, R., & Pusari, N. (2006). Using participatory action research to provide health promotion for disadvantaged elders in Shaanxi province, China. *Public Health Nursing*, *23*(4), 332-338.
- Lizaola, E., Schraiber, R., Braslow, J., Kataoka, S., Springgate, B. F., Wells, K. B., & Jones, L. (2011). The partnered research center for quality care: Developing infrastructure to support community-partnered participatory research in mental health. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 21(3, Supp. 1), 58-70.
- Loe, M. (2013). The digital life history project: Intergenerational collaborative research.

  Gerontology and Geriatrics Education, 34(1), 26-42.
- Love, K. (2011). Assisted living column. Little known but powerful approach to applied research: Community-based participatory research. *Geriatric Nursing*, *32*(1), 52-54.
- Lynch, B. M., McCormack, B., & McCance, T. (2011). Development of a model of situational leadership in residential care for older people. *Journal of Nursing*

- Management, 19(8), 1058-1069.
- Macdonnell, J. A. (2011). Gender, sexuality and the participatory dimensions of a comparative life history policy study. *Nursing Inquiry*, *18*(4), 313-324.
- Machizawa, S., & Lau, D. (2010). Psychological needs of Japanese American elders: Implications for culturally competent interventions. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, 25(2), 183-197.
- Martinez, L. S., Russell, B., Rubin, C. L., Leslie, L. K., & Brugge, D. (2012). Clinical and translational research and community engagement: Implications for researcher capacity building. *Clinical and translational science*, *5*(4), 329-332.
- McRae, H. (2012). Creating a common space for community engagement. *Canadian Journal of University Continuing Education*, 38(1), 1-17.
- Minkler, M., Hammel, J., Gill, C. J., Magasi, S., Vásquez, V. B., Bristo, M., & Coleman, D. (2008). Community-based participatory research in disability and long-term care policy. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, *19*(2), 114-126.
- Montoya, M. J., & Kent, E. E. (2011). Dialogical action: Moving from community-based to community-driven participatory research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 21(7), 1000-1011.
- Moss, C., & Walsh, K. (2009). Solving the puzzle. *Australian Nursing Journal*, 16(7), 34-34.
- Mowat, H., Wilson, C., Lachlan, G., Gray, W., Gray, A., Faubert, E., ... Bunniss, S.

- (2011). The spiritual care of older people: The report of a group research study. *Chaplaincy Today, 27*(2), 27-37.
- Nelson, B. D., Getchell, M., Rosborough, S., Atwine, B., Okeyo, E., Wall, E., & Greenough, P. G. (2010). A participatory approach to assessing refugee perceptions of health services. *World Health & Population [Electronic Resource]*, 11(4), 13-22.
- Nomura, M., Makimoto, K., Kato, M., Shiba, T., Matsuura, C., Shigenobu, K., ... Ikeda,
  M. (2009). Empowering older people with early dementia and family caregivers:
  A participatory action research study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*,
  46(4), 431-441.
- Novek, S, Morris-Oswald, T., & Menec, V. (2012). Using photovoice with older adults: Some methodological strengths and issues. *Ageing and Society*, *32*(3), 451-470.
- Olesen, S. C., & Berry, H. L. (2011). Community participation and mental health during retirement in community sample of Australians. *Aging & Mental Health*, *15*(2), 186-197.
- Ottmann, G., Laragy, C., Allen, J., & Feldman, P. (2011). Coproduction in practice:

  Participatory action research to develop a model of community aged care.

  Systemic Practice & Action Research, 24(5), 413-427.
- Perry, L., Bellchambers, H., Howie, A., Moxey, A., Parkinson, L., Capra, S., & Byles, J. (2011). Examination of the utility of the promoting action on research implementation in health services framework for implementation of evidence

- based practice in residential aged care settings. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 67(10), 2139-2150.
- Phillips, J., Salamonson, Y., & Davidson, P. M. (2011). An instrument to assess nurses' and care assistants' self-efficacy to provide a palliative approach to older people in residential aged care: A validation study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 48(9), 1096-1100.
- Pinto, R. M. (2009). Community perspectives on factors that influence collaboration in public health research. *Health Education & Behavior*, *36*(5), 930-947.
- Plumb, M., Collins, N., Cordeiro, J.N., & Kavanaugh-Lynch, M. (2008). Assessing process and outcomes: Evaluating community-based participatory research.

  \*Progress in Community Health Partnerships, 2(2), 85-86.
- Pui, L. L., Bashford, L., Schwager, G, Spain, R., Ryan, H., Oakman, M., ... Higgins, I.
  (2010). Clinicians' experiences of participating in an action research study.
  Contemporary Nurse: A Journal for the Australian Nursing Profession, 35(2),
  147-156.
- Puma, J., Bennett, L., Cutforth, N., Tombari, C., & Stein, P. (2009). A case study of a community-based participatory evaluation research (CBPER) project: Reflections on promising practices and shortcomings. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, 15(2), 34-47.
- Qureshi, H. (2004). Evidence in policy and practice: What kinds of research designs? *Journal of Social Work, 4*(1), 7-23.

- Radda, K. E., & Schensul, J. J. (2011). Building living alliances: Community engagement and community-based partnerships to address the health of community elders.

  Annals of Anthropological Practice, 35(2), 154-173.
- Radebaugh, T. S., Bahner, C. A., Ballard-Reisch, D., Epp, M., Hale, L. S., Hanley, R., ... Rogers, N. L. (2011). Falling less in Kansas: Development of a fall risk reduction toolkit. *Journal of Aging Research*, 2011, 1-7.
- Roberto, K. A., Brossoie, N., Mcpherson, M. C., Pulsifer, M. B., & Brown, P. N. (2013).

  Violence against rural older women: Promoting community awareness and action.

  Australasian Journal on Ageing, 32(1), 2-7.
- Rota-Bartelink, A., & Lipmann, B. (2010). Older people with alcohol-related brain injury and associated complex behaviors: A psychosocial model of residential care (the wicking project). *Care Management Journals*, 11(2), 112-121.
- Sabir, M., Breckman, R., Meador, R., Wethington, E., Carrington Reid, M., Pillemer, K. (2006). The CITRA research-practice consensus workshop model: Exploring a new method of research translation in aging. *Gerontologist*, 46(6), 833-839.
- Sabir, M., Wethington, E., Breckman, R., Meador, R., Reid, M. C., & Pillemer, K. (2009).
  A community-based participatory critique of social isolation intervention research for community-dwelling older adults. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 28(2), 218-234.
- Saltus, R., & Folkes, E. (2013). Understanding dignity and care: An exploratory qualitative study on the views of older people of African and African-Caribbean

- descent. Quality in Ageing & Older Adults, 14(1), 36-46.
- Scharlach, A. E., & Sanchez, E. (2011). From interviewers to friendly visitors: Bridging research and practice to meet the needs of low-income Latino seniors. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, *54*(1), 73-91.
- Schensul, J. J., Robison, J., Reyes, C., Radda, K., Gaztambide, S., & Disch, W. (2006).

  Building Interdisciplinary/Intersectoral research partnerships for community-based mental health research with older minority adults. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 38(1), 79-93.
- Secret, M., Abell, M. L., & Berlin, T. (2011). The promise and challenge of practice-research collaborations: Guiding principles and strategies for initiating, designing, and implementing program evaluation research. *Social Work*, *56*(1), 9-20.
- Seddon, D., & Harper, G. (2009). What works well in community care. *Quality in Ageing*, 10(4), 8-17.
- Seguin, R. A., Heidkamp-Young, E., Kuder, J., & Nelson, M. E. (2012). Improved physical fitness among older female participants in a nationally disseminated, community-based exercise program. *Health Education & Behavior*, *39*(2), 183-190.
- Siek, K., Khan, D., Ross, S., Haverhals, L., Meyers, J., & Cali, S. (2011). Designing a personal health application for older adults to manage medications: A comprehensive case study. *Journal of Medical Systems*, *35*(5), 1099-1121.

- Song, Y., & Vernooy, R. (2010). Seeds of empowerment. *Gender, Technology & Development, 14*(1), 25-44.
- Sullivan, J., & Siqueira, C. E. (2009). Popular arts and education in community-based participatory research (CBPR): On the subtle craft of developing and enhancing channels for clear conversations among CBPR partners. *New Solutions*, *19*(4), 399-406.
- Thomas, T., Narayanan, P., Wheeler, T., Kiran, U., Joseph, M. J., & Ramanathan, T. V. (2012). Design of a community ownership and preparedness index: Using data to inform the capacity development of community-based groups. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 66(Supp. 2), 26-33.
- Tolhurst, R., Leach, B., Price J, Robinson, J., Ettore, E., Scott-Samuel, A., ... Theobald, S. (2012). Intersectionality and gender mainstreaming in international health:

  Using a feminist participatory action research process to analyse voices and debates from the global south and north. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74(11), 1825-1832.
- Travers, R., Wilson, M. G., Flicker, S., Guta, A., Bereket, T., McKay, C., ... Rourke, S. B. (2008). The greater involvement of people living with AIDS principle: Theory versus practice in Ontario's HIV/AIDS community-based research sector. *AIDS Care*, 20(6), 615-624.
- Ullrich, S., McCutcheon, H., & Parker, B. (2011). Reclaiming time for nursing practice in nutritional care: Outcomes of implementing protected mealtimes in a residential

- aged care setting. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 20(9), 1339-1348.
- Van Wagenen, A., Driskell, J., & Bradford, J. (2013). "I'm still raring to go": Successful aging among lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender older adults. *Journal of Aging Studies*, 27(1), 1-14.
- VanderWalde, A., & Kurzban, S. (2011). Paying human subjects in research: Where are we, how did we get here, and now what? *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 39(3), 543-558.
- Varnam, W. (2011). How to mobilise patients with dementia to a standing position.

  Nursing Older People, 23(8), 31-36.
- Warburton, J., Bartlett, H., Carroll, M., & Kendig, H. (2009). Involving older people in community-based research: Developing a guiding framework for researchers and community organisations. *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, 28(1), 41-45.
- Ward, L., Barnes, M., & Gahagan, B. (2011). Alcohol use in later life older people's perspectives. *Quality in Ageing & Older Adults, 12*(4), 239-247.
- Wiles, J. L., Leibing, A., Guberman, N., Reeve, J., & Allen, R. E. S. (2012). The meaning of "Aging in place" to older people. *Gerontologist*, *52*(3), 357-366.
- Xiao, L. D., Kelton, M., & Paterson, J. (2012). Critical action research applied in clinical placement development in aged care facilities. *Nursing Inquiry*, *19*(4), 322-333.
- Yoo, S., Butler, J., Elias, T. I., & Goodman, R. M. (2009). The 6-step model for community empowerment: Revisited in public housing communities for low-

- income senior citizens. Health Promotion Practice, 10(2), 262-275.
- Zandee, G. (2012). Mapping a strategic plan for health: Community-based participatory research with underserved, low-income, urban neighborhoods. *Journal of Higher Education Outreach and Engagement*, 16(3), 95-97.
- Zeitz, K., Kitson, A., Gibb, H., Bagley, E., Chester, M., Davy, C., ... Shanks, A. (2011). Working together to improve the care of older people: A new framework for collaboration. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 67(1), 43-55.

# Appendix D - Analysis of Literature

Authors	Key Partners	Sample	Research Aims	Nature of Older Adult Involvement	Methods	Key Findings	Action Outcomes
Baur, V., & Abma, T. (2012)	Older adults in Dutch care home; researchers	7	Explore relational empowerment though resident participation	Advocated for policy change, set agenda	Weekly meetings with participatory approaches to democracy	Building interpersonal trust, social identity and joint purpose facilities empowerment	Group empowerment and meal improvement
Brown et al. (2011)	Nursing staff	48	Identify and change barriers to pain-management	Participated in a facilitated critical reflections	Emancipatory action research approach	Psychological safety, leadership and oppression influences effective nursing practices	"Psychologically safe spaces" to develop effective person-centered care
Chadiha et al. (2011)	Researchers; older urban African Americans; Healthier Black Elders Center	541	Explore volunteer recruitment methods	Data collection; recruited volunteers	Logic model program evaluation	Over 7 years enrolees in a research volunteer registry increased from 102 to 1273 enrolees.	Targeted outreach to underrepresented groups to build a registry of volunteers for health research promising strategy
Dennis, B., & Neese, J. (2000)	Researchers; Neighbourho od Outreach Program	153	Recruitment and retention of African Americans into research studies	Interviewed	Spheres of justice; interactional model; multisystem approach	Successfully engaged diverse populations by: historical cognizance, sanctioning, trust- building, mutuality,	Recommendations for community engagement

						recognition of heterogeneity and researcher self- reflection and introspection	
Dong et al. (2012)	Chinese American Service League; Researchers at Rush University Medical Center	78	Examine the perceptions, social determinants of depressive symptoms of a Chinese aging population in Chicago	Participated in interviews and focus groups	Questionnaire s and semi- structured focus group interviews	Depressive symptoms common among older adults in study population	Identified health concern
Dong et al. (2011)	Researchers; Chicago community centre	39	Examine perception, knowledge and help-seeking tendency toward elder mistreatment among Chinese older adults	Participated in focus groups	Focus group interviews	Chinese older adults have limited knowledge of helpseeking resources other than local community centers	Need to highlight the pervasive public health problem of elder mistreatment
Doyle et al. (2010)	Researchers; informal group of service providers; older adults	205	Older people's use and perceptions of community services.	Consultation on questionnaire design and administratio n; delivery of surveys; report	Administration of a questionnaire to 205 older adults and 7 focus groups with service providers,	Perceptions and uses of community services	Elders trained in research methods; knowledge sharing

Everingham et al. (2009)	Researchers; stakeholders; service providers; Australian seniors	37	Understand issues impacting on older people's capacity to access relevant information	approval; implementati on Composed working action group, participated in group meetings. Advised interpretation of results	caregivers and support workers Working action groups to explore criteria for improved systems of information dissemination. Formation of a working action group for advisory purposes	Relevance and accessibility are barriers to relevant information at the local level	Developed framework for the participants to implement development plans. Empowerment of working action group
Feldman et al. (2011)	Researchers	250 attended performa nce; 29compl eted survey	Investigated using theater performance as an engagement tool for key life events	Watched play and conducted semi- structured qualitative surveys	Likert scale survey; qualitative 'general comment' feedback	Theater performance useful is a useful learning tool for working with older adults	Further investigation of theater performance as BCPR method
Fenge et al. (2009)	Older lesbian women and gay men; Help and Care voluntary agency; Bournemouth	NA	Reflective study on the needs, experiences and aspirations of older lesbian women and gay men	As volunteers designed questionnaire s; undertook qualitative interviews; analyzed data	Volunteer conducted narrative interviews	Volunteers from marginalized communities can undertake research projects with appropriate support	Narratives of PAR process

	University						
Fragnar, L., & Depczynski, J. (2011)	Older nurses and allied health workers; researchers	80	Identify aspects of work that have become more difficult for rural health workers as they age	Attended workshops and focus groups	Focus group; thematic content analysis	Identified tasks and aspects of work that have become more difficult for older health workers	Report of older health workers difficulties at work
Goins et al. (2011)	Researchers; tribal authorities	28	Develop a tribal participatory research conceptual model	Trained in research methods; input in study design	Focus groups	Recommends incorporating dissemination as a central tribal participatory research method	Identified tribal participatory research model
Gong et al. (2009)	Service Employees International Union United Long-Term Care Workers Union; Public Authority; University of California; National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health	46	Describe case study to illustrate how alliances among various community partners could be united to formulate policy directions	Some seniors on project team; conducted	Focus groups; key informant interviews; stakeholder meetings	Strong community partnership, participation, and shared values contributed to successful formulation of policy initiatives	Formative evaluation of partnership team capacity
Green et al.	Older people;	43	Provide	Study design;	Focus groups	Identified concerns	Recommendations
(2012)	researchers		commentary by older people on	fieldwork; report writing		of hospital visitation	for practice that could improve

			their experiences as visitors to hospital or as patients receiving visitors				hospital visiting
Gum et al. (2012)	Researchers; four African American churches	60	Solicit input to address older adults mental health needs	Participated in focus groups; Older church leaders acted as facilitators	Focus groups; survey	Participants viewed mental health holistically; identified strengths and resources in church's; open to collaboration	Wellness program developed
Harrison, A, & Brandling, J. (2009)	Researchers; clinical staff in hospital; patients; care givers	NA	Explore concepts of action research within senior mental healthcare	Participated in focus groups, interviews, and collaborative reflection sessions	Observational; focus groups; interviews; collaborative reflection sessions	Identified potential solutions to address caring for older people with mental health needs	Highlights complex nature of action research
Holkup et al. (2007)	Researchers; community facilitators; Native American families	10 families	Piloted and implemented a elder mistreatment program in a northwestern Native American community	Participated in family meetings	Family meetings with information sharing and plan development	Families accepted and appreciated family care conference intervention	Culturally anchored and individualized means of identifying Native American elder's needs
Hulko et al, (2010)	Health authority; Elders from 3	21	Explore the views of First Nations Elders on	Advisory board members;	Sharing circles; interviews	Memory loss and memory care in First Nations	Means to protect and revive traditional

	First nations communities; researchers		memory loss and memory care in later life	participated in sharing circles and interviews		communities has changed over the past century, including attributes that cause memory loss and community response	knowledge and ways of life in order to prevent dementia
Hutnik et al, (2012)	Researchers	16	Describe socio- economic stories of Centenarians	Interviewed	Interviews	Identified common experiences and themes	Narratives of 16 Centenarians
Lichtenberg, (2011)	Researchers; Older adults; Community Centre	723	Examine strategies to recruit minority elders into health research	Interviewed; Advisory board members	Telephone surveys	Older women had higher participatory rate and reported less disability compared with men	Telephone recruitment may be used effectively
Liu, et al. (2006)	Researchers; Elders; Government officers; village leaders	25	Determine health promotion issues concerning disadvantaged elders health in a rural Chinese village	Participated in focus groups; advisory group	Focus groups	Partnerships are challenging and time consuming yet necessary	Identified barriers and solutions to academic-public partnerships
Nomura et al. (2009)	Researchers; older people with dementia; caregivers	37	Describe the implementation and process evaluation of a program evaluation based on cognitive rehabilitation	Focus group interview used for assessment	Observational; written comments from caregivers; phone interviews	Cognitive rehabilitation theory was useful to restore lost procedural skills	Illustrated importance of interventions for both community dwelling elderly with early dementia and their family caregivers
Ottmann et	Researchers;	8	Reports on the	Focus	Focus groups	Outlines key	Development of

al. (2011)	older people; service providers; government representativ es		implementation of a multi- stakeholder coproduction approach to the development of a consumer directed care model	groups; deliberation sessions		considerations regarding engagement methods including the involvement of older people with complex needs	coproduction methodology
Perry et al. (2011)	Researchers	30	Examined a framework on promoting action on research implementation in health services	Older adults among those interviewed but no explicit inclusion	Qualitative interviews	Matched factors described by staff as important with a previously identified framework model.	Knowledge translation of staff recommendations
Phillps et al. (2011).	Researchers	405	Investigated the psychometric properties of an instrument designed to assess clinician confidence during end of life care	Older adults among those interviewed but no explicit inclusion	Instrument was administered	Instrument identified as useful in assessing and monitoring clinicians perceived capacity to provide a palliative approach	Enhancement of clinicians' self-efficacy because of t increased opportunities to acquire and apply palliative care competencies
Ling et al. (2010).	Hospital staff; Researchers	9	Action research project designed to improve the care of older people at risk of delirium	Older adults among those interviewed but no explicit inclusion	Sharing stories and experiences caring for people with delirium in group	Development and implementation of a Delirium Alert Protocol	Staff learned about PAR process and empowered on how they can change practice

					meetings		
Jini et al. (2009).	Community partner; two graduate students; research faculty; external funder	NA	Documents a community-based participatory evaluation research project	Participated in interviews and focus groups	Observation; interviews; two matched comparison focus groups	Participatory evaluation model is an effective means to know if program services are effective	Identification of promising aspects and shortcomings, contributing to the methodological understandings of CBR
Radda & Jean. (2011).	Community research group; multiple community organizations; older people	NA	Describes the process of creating and maintaining alliances to address the health of older adults	Participation varied from one case to the next	Descriptive analysis of alliance building processes	Provides examples of the alliance building process, challenges faced and lessons learned	Termed 'living alliances', contributing to the field of CBPR methodology
Radebaugh et al. (2011).	Researchers; health professionals; rehabilitation centre	16 participa nts of interview ; 11 of focus group	Describes the process of creating a fall prevention toolkit	Participated in interviews and focus groups	Key informant interviews; focus groups	Determined criteria to develop education and awareness criteria for fall prevention among older adults	Developed a fall prevention toolkit
Roberto et al. (2013).	Researchers; community advisory group representing victims	72 in focus groups; 10 individua l interview s	Identify opportunities and challenges in promoting community support for older women experiencing	Participated in interviews; comprised part of advisory committee	Focus group interviews with service providers; individual interviews with survivors of domestic	Insights generated during this project produced a framework to address intimate partner violence among older women in rural communities	Development of framework

			intimate partner violence		violence		
Sabir et al. (2006).	Researchers; practitioners	practitio ners; 7 researche rs	Seek to develop a process to bridge the gap between aging-related research and practice	Participated in workshop	Consensus model workshops	Demonstrated the value of close interaction between the ageing-related research and practice communities	Recommendation of consensus- conference model as bridge between research and practice
Saltus, & Folkes, (2013).	Researchers	21	Report on a qualitative exploratory study conducted to explore what dignity and care mean from the perspectives of older Black Welsh individuals	Participated in interviews	Semi- structured interviews	Notion of care is understood as 'caring about' and is seen to be a key indicator of dignity	Reveals the intersections of care and minority ethnicity

# Appendix E – Cycle of Problem Solving with Action Reserach



Figure 2: Cycle of Problem Solving with Action Research. Adapted from Riel (2007).

#### Appendix F – Effective Community-Academic Partnerships

## Table 3: Effective Community-Academic Partnerships

- 1.) Learn the 'community ecology' before entering the community
- 2.) Establish relationships with community gatekeepers
- 3.) Build credibility before proceeding
- 4.) Develop a community coalition board, otherwise referred to as an advisory committee
- 5.) Work with board to conduct a needs assessment
- 6.) Collaborate with the board to develop and implement one or more projects

Adapted from: Braithwaite, R. L., Murphy, F., Lythcott, N., & Blumenthal, D. S. (1989).

Table 4: Summary of Common Barriers and Potential Solutions in PAR

Tuble 1: Builling	ary of Common Barriers and Potentia	
	Barrier	Potential Solutions
Power	Power differentials in the project	Recognizing power differentials is
Imbalance	between participants and	essential. While it may not be
	researchers may intimidate	feasible to make long-entrenched
	participants from full	power imbalances disappear over
	participation. It is important to	the course of a project, it is
	remember no group is	important to take steps to minimize
	homogenous and there will also	their impact. This can be in part
	be power differentials within the	achieved through effective
	group. Between stakeholders or	facilitation and the development of
	board committee members an	a respectful environment where
	imagined hierarchy between	people can participate without fear
	disciplines can also lead to	of being cut off by someone in a
	feelings of unease.	position of higher power. Equally
		important is recognition that not all
		participants have equal access to
		privilege, equal speaking space and
		feel equally valued in the research
		process; use different methods such
		as small group work, breakout
		sessions, individual writing time
		and so on, to engage all
		participants rather than just the
		most outspoken.
Time	Every PAR project reported	Scheduling around the needs of
Constraints	difficulties organizing and finding	community partners is essential.
	the time to complete work. This	This includes taking advantage of
	is especially true for work with	less formal opportunities such as
	community partners, who may not	lunch meetings to help all partners
	be able to spend valuable human	become actively engaged in the
	resources to assist the research	project. Another helpful approach
	project. In this case, partners may	could be to create a timeline with
	be frustrated at the lack of control	community partners with key
	they have in the research process	milestones so that everyone is
	due to the limited hours they can	aware of the schedule, ideally at
	dedicate to the project. Academic	the grant application stage. Co-
	or professional partners may also	writing grant applications with a
	face time constraints and	community partner may also
	limitations due to organizational	provide the opportunity for a more
	mandates and funding cycles.	thorough bidirectional
		understanding of time constraints
		from the outset of a project.
Compensation	Community members and	Ideally, grants will permit

	research participants may be financially, intellectually, and physically challenged by the commitments of PAR projects, e.g. evening and weekend work.	budgeting for salary release time for partners. A community may co-write a grant proposal or provide letters of reference. Compensation should be provided for partners and participants who volunteer their time. Be mindful of the cost for the participant to make it to the meeting, which may include subsidizing a bus passes and providing food.
Ethnocultural diversity	A homogenous methodology for engaging participants of diverse language groups, cultural backgrounds and disability groups will not work and at its core, is in contradiction to PAR principles. Some participants may be unintentionally excluded from the project if they have difficulty reading, speaking or writing a different language than the researchers. Both situations result in a participant not fully expressing him or herself.	The onus is on the researchers to ask themselves what they are doing to engage traditionally excluded and marginalized communities. Forming a community advisory committee can help identify gaps in researching participants and help design a more inclusive methodology. Every effort should be made to provide translations or interpreters for participants.
Coming to know the community	It may be difficult for researchers to spend the required amount of time in a community. Face-to-face contact is essential in developing trust and collaborative relationships, yet travel times may be long or freeing time away from the office may be difficult.	Particularly given the geographic scope of BC, if possible, travel costs should be built into grant submissions. Skype, FaceTime, and other information technology resources should also be exploited with the caution that they cannot replace face-to-face contact. Various platforms also exist for joint editing of word documents. The onus here falls largely on the researcher to make every effort to participate in and become part of the community. Another strategy could be to hire project staff and facilitators who are well known and respected in the community to lead group work.

Conflicts with	Non-profit and community	Offers to work with partners to
mandates and	organizations may be less	overcome organizational hurdles
unfamiliarity	prepared to engage in PAR than	should be made. Communication
with research	an academic institution.	here is key, and partners should not
processes	Organizational hurdles and	have to overcome barriers in
	unfamiliar ethics approvals may	isolation. Advocating by providing
	limit a partner's involvement.	letters of support outlining the
		importance of a partner's role in
		the research process may be
		convincing to senior management.
		Simple things like invoicing for
		work on the project may be an
		unfamiliar process, especially
		when working with an academic
		institution that has multistep
		processes. Researchers can
		support this process by explaining
		the process and providing
		templates. If a partner is included
		in the research ethics application,
		they will be required to complete
		an online ethics tutorial. Efforts
		should be made to ensure the
		partner has access to a computer
		and is comfortable with
		undertaking the tutorial.

### References

- Averett, P., Yoon, I., & Jenkins, C. L. (2013). Older Lesbian Experiences of Homophobia and Ageism. *Journal of Social Service Research*, *39*(1), 3-15.
- Averill, J. B. (2005). Studies of rural elderly individuals: Merging critical ethnography with community-based action research. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *31*(12), 11-18.
- Blair, T., & Minkler, M. (2009). Participatory action research with older adults: Key principles in practice. *The Gerontologist*, 49, 651-662.
- Bradbury, H., & Reason, P. (2003). Issues and choice points for improving the quality of action research. Community-Based Participatory Research for Health. San Francisco, Calif: Jossey-Bass Publishing, 201-220.Braithwaite, R. L., Murphy, F.,
- Lythcott, N., & Blumenthal, D. S. (1989). Community organization and development for health promotion within an urban black community: A conceptual model. *Health Education*, 20(5), 56-60.
- Canadian Centre for Elder Law. (2013). Your words are worth something: identifying barriers to well-being for older women. Retrieved from http://www.bcli.org/project/older-womens-dialogue-project
- Canadian Coalition for Seniors' Mental Health (CCSMH). (2006). *National guidelines*for seniors' mental health: The assessment & treatment of depression.

  Toronto, ON: CCSMH.
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2010). *Depression among Seniors in Residential Care*. Retrieved from http://www.cihi.ca/CIHI-ext-portal/internet/en/document/types+of+care/specialized+services/mental+health+a

- nd+addictions/release 20may2010
- Canadian Institute for Health Research (2009). *Gender and sex- based analysis in health research: A guide for CIHR researchers and reviewers*. Retrieved from http://www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/32019.html
- Canadian Institute Health Information. (2011). *Health care in Canada, 2011: A focus on seniors and aging*. Retrieved from https://secure.cihi.ca/free\_ products/HCIC 2011 seniors report en.pdf
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2011). *Seniors and the health care system:*What is the impact of multiple chronic conditions? Retrieved from

  https://secure.cihi.ca/estore/productFamily.htm?locale=en&pf=PFC1575
- Carstairs, S., & Keon, W, J. (2009). Canada's aging population: Seizing the opportunity—Special Senate Committee on Aging Final Report. Retrieved from http://www.parl.gc.ca/content/sen/committee/402/agei/rep/agingfinalreport-e.pdf
- Chambers, C., Chiu, S., Scott, A. N., Tolomiczenko, G., Redelmeier, D. A., Levinson, W., & Hwang, S. W. (2014). Factors associated with poor mental health status among homeless women with and without dependent children. Community mental health journal, 50(5), 553-559.City of Vancouver. (2010). *Seniors in Vancouver*.

  Retrieved from http://vancouver.ca/files/cov/Seniors-Backgrounder.pdf
- Cornwall, A., & Jewkes, R. (1995). What is participatory research? *Social Science & Medicine*, 41(12), 1667-1676.
- Everingham et al. (2009). Information provision for an age-friendly community. *Ageing International*, 34, 79-98.
- Feinglass, J., Thompson, J., He, X., & Whitney, W. (2005). Effect of physical activity on

- functional status among middle-age adults with arthritis. *Arthritis Care & Research*, *53*, 6.
- Fenge, L. (2002). Practicing partnership- participative inquiry with older people. *Social Work Education*, 21, 171-181.
- Graham, I., Tetroe, J., Robinson, N., Grimshaw, J., & International Funders Study

  Research Group. (2005). *An international study of health research funding agencies' support and promotion of knowledge translation*. Study presented at the Academy Health Annual Research Meeting, Boston, MA.
- Green, L.W., George, M. A., Daniel, M., Frankish, C. J., Herbert, C. P., Bowie, W.R., O'Neill, M. (1995). *Study of participatory research in health promotion*. Review and Recommendations for the Development of Participatory Research in Health Promotion in Canada by the Institute of Health Promotion Research, University of British Columbia and the B.C. Consortium for Health Promotion Research. Royal Society of Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.
- Harper, G. W., & Schneider, M. (2003). Oppression and discrimination among lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgendered people and communities: A challenge for community psychology. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 31(3-4), 243-252
- Here to Help. (2009). *Seniors' mental health and substance use issues*. Retrieved from http://heretohelp.bc.ca/sites/default/files/images/seniors\_mh.pdf
- Horowitz, C., Robinson, M., & Seifer, S. (2009). Community-based participatory research from the margin to the mainstream: Are researchers prepared? *Circulation*, 119, 2633-2642.

- Ife, J. W. (1995). Community development: Creating community alternatives-vision, analysis and practice. Melbourne: Longman.
- Israel, B., Eng, E., Schulz, A., & Parker, E. (Eds.). (2005). *Methods in community-based participatory research for health*. San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Isreal, B., Schulz, A., Parker, E., Becker, A., Allen, A., & Guzman, J. (2008). Critical issues in developing and following community based participatory research principles. In M. Minkler, & N. Wallerstein (Eds.), *Community-based participatory research for health* (pp. 46-66). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Johansson, A. W., & Lindhult, E. (2008). Emancipation or workability: Critical versus pragmatic scientific orientation in action research. *Action Research*, *6*, 95-115.
- Maguire, P. (1987). *Doing participatory research: A feminist approach*. Amherst, MA:

  Center for International Education, School of Education, University of

  Massachusetts.
- MacCourt, P., Wilson, K., & Tourigny-Rivard, M. F. (2011). Guidelines for comprehensive mental health services for older adults in Canada. Mental Health Commission of Canada.
- Mood Disorders Society of Canada. (2009). *Quick Facts: Mental Illness and Addiction in Canada* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Guelph. ON: MDSC.
- Moreno, J., Gachie, A., Fleming, C., Napoles-Springer, A., Mutran, E., & Mason, S. (2004). Ethnic minority older adults participating in clinical research: Developing trust. *Journal of Aging and Health, 16,* 93-123.
- Minkler, M., & Wallerstein, N. (Eds.). (2010). Community-based participatory research for health: From process to outcomes. Wiley: Chicago.

- Milan, A., & Vézina, M. (2011). "Senior Women," Women in Canada: A Gender-Based Statistical Report. Ottawa, Ont: Statistics Canada, catalogue no. 89-503-X.
- National Advisory Council on Aging. (2006). *Seniors in Canada: 2006 Report Card.*Ottawa, ON: National Advisory Council on Aging.
- Ottmann, G., Laragy, C., Allen, J., & Feldman, P. (2011). Coproduction in practice: participatory action research to develop a model of community aged care.

  Systemic practice and action research, 24(5), 413-427.
- Preston, V., Kim, A., Hudyma, S., Mandell, N., Luxton, M., & Hemphill, J. (2013).

  Gender, Race, and Immigration: Aging and Economic Security in Canada.

  Canadian Review of Social Policy/Revue canadienne de politique sociale, 2, 68-69.
- Pretty, J. N., Guijt, I., Thompson, J., & Scoones, I. (1995). *Participatory learning and action: a trainer's guide*. London: International Institute for Environment and Development.
- Priestley, M. (2003). *Disability: A Life Course Approach*. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Provincial Health Officers Report. (2008). *A focus on women: Surveillance of chronic conditions*. Retrieved from http://www.health.gov.bc.ca/pho/pdf/Appendix-of-PHO-var8.pdf
- Provincial Health Services Authority. (2009). *Taking a second look: Analyzing health*inequalities in British Columbia with a sex, gender, and diversity lens. Retrieved from http://www.bccewh.bc.ca/publications-resources/documents/TakingaSecond Look.pdf

- Reason, P., & Bradbury, H. (2001). Introduction: Inquiry and participation in search of a world worthy of human aspiration. In Reason, P., & Bradbury, H. (Eds).

  \*Handbook of action research: Participative inquiry and practice. London: Sage Publications.
- Riel, M. (2007) *Understanding Action Research*. Retrieved from the Center For Collaborative Action Research, Pepperdine University website: http://cadres.pepperdine.edu/ccar/define.html
- Statistics Canada. (2006). *A portrait of seniors in Canada*. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-519-x/89-519-x2006001-eng.pdf
- Statistics Canada. (2010). Average Total Income, by Economic Family Type, 2009

  Constant Dollars, Annual (Dollars). (CANSIM Table 202-0403). (Ottawa, Ont.:

  Statistics Canada, 2009), Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/cansim/a01?lang=eng
- Statistics Canada. (2012). Health-Adjusted Life Expectancy, at Birth and at Age 65, by

  Sex and Income Group, Canada and Provinces, Occasional (Years) (CANSIM

  Table 102-0121) (Ottawa, Ont.: Statistics Canada, 2001).
- Shankar, A., McMunn, A., & Steptoe, A. (2010). Health-related behaviors in older adults: relationships with socioeconomic status. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 38(1), 39-46.
- Springett, J., Wright, M. T., & Roche, B. (2011). *Developing quality criteria for*\*Participatory Health Research: An agenda for action (No. SP I 2011-302).

  \*Discussion Paper, Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung,

  \*Forschungsschwerpunkt Bildung, Arbeit und Lebenschancen, Forschungsgruppe

Public Health.

- Stacey, C.L. (2005). Finding dignity in dirty work: The constraints and rewards of low-wage home care labor. *Sociology of Health and Illness*, *24*(6), 831-854.
- Thurston, W. E., Roy, A., Clow, B., Este, D., Gordey, T., Haworth-Brockman, M., & Carruthers, L. (2013). Pathways into and out of homelessness: Domestic violence and housing security for immigrant women. *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies*, 11(3), 278-298.
- Turcotte, M., & Schellenberg, G. (2007). *A Portrait of Seniors in Canada*. Ottawa, Ont.: Statistics Canada
- Norris, K., Brusuelas, R., Jones, L., Miranda, J., Duru, O., & Mangione, C. (2007).

  Partnering with community-based organizations: An academic institution's evolving perspective. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 17, 27-32.
- Whyte, W, E. (1991). Participatory action research. Chicago: Sage Publications.